



# STANDARDS FOR TB CARE IN INDIA





World Health Organization 2014

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

This publication contains the collective views of a national and international group of experts and does not necessarily represent the decisions or the policies of the World Health Organization.

This publication can be reprinted for wider dissemination of standards for TB care under due acknowledgment to Central TB Division, Ministry of Health & Family Welfare, Government of India and World Health Organization, Country Office for India.

### **Table of contents**

Acknowledgement	1
Workshop participants	2
Development process	9
Introduction	11
STCI summary	13
Standard 1 Testing and screening for pulmonary TB	24
Standard 2 Diagnostic technology	27
Standard 3 Testing for extra-pulmonary TB	30
Standard 4 HIV testing-TB patients and diagnosis of DR-TB	32
Standard 5 Probable TB	35
Standard 6 Paediatric TB	36
Standard 7 Treatment with first-line drugs	38
Standard 8 Monitoring treatment response	43
Standard 9 Drug resistant-TB management	45
Standard 10 Addressing TB with HIV infection and other comorbid conditions	51
Standard 11Treatment adherence	54
Standard 12 Public health responsibilities	56
Standard 13 Notification of TB cases	58
Standard 14 Maintain records of TB patients	60
Standard 15 Contact investigation	61
Standard 16 NH prophylaxis	63
Standard 17 Airborne infection control	64
Standard 18 Quality assurance system	65
Standard 19 Panchayati raj system	66
Standard 20 Health education	67
Standard 21 Death audit for TB	68
Introduction to standards for social inclusion for TB	69
Standard 22 Information of TB prevention and care seeking	70
Standard 23 Free and quality services	71
Standard 24 Respect, confidentialty and sensitivity	72
Standard 25 Care and support-social welfare programmes	
Standard 26 Addressing counseling and other needs	

### Acknowledgements

Development of the Standards for TB Care in India (STCI) is the culmination of a series of discussions involving various stakeholders and review of literature. Central TB Division, Ministry of Health & Family Welfare, Government of India and WHO Country Office for India took the lead in the process. The national TB institutions in India namely National Institute of TB and Respiratory Diseases (NITRD) New Delhi, National Institute for Research in Tuberculosis (NIRT) Chennai and National TB Institute (NTI) Bangalore contributed significantly in the development process. USAID has provided funding support to this initiative through WHO Country Office for India.

We acknowledge the contribution of all participants of the workshop and also those experts who reviewed the report and made comments for its betterment. Programme managers of Revised National Tuberculosis Control Programme (RNTCP) at central, state and district level have contributed substantially to finalize this document. Special appreciation is due for the medical consultants of WHO-RNTCP technical assistance network for their contribution in literature search and in providing necessary technical and operational support for the development of STCI. WCO-India communications team has provided crucial support in editing this document and we thank them for this.

The writing group comprised of (alphabetically) Dr A Sreenivas, Dr K Rade, Dr KS Sachdeva, Dr M Ghedia, Dr M Parmar, Dr R Ramachandran and Dr Shepherd J.

The draft guidelines have been reviewed and valuable comments have been provided by a group of experts comprising of: (alphabetically) Dr A Mohan, Dr A Joshi, Dr B John, Dr C Rodrigues, Dr GR Sethi, Dr N Kulshrestha, Dr N Wilson, Dr O George, Dr P Dewan, Dr RN Solanki, Dr R Sarin, Dr RV Ashokan, Dr S Gutta, Dr S Sahu, Dr S Swaminathan, Dr S Vijayan and Dr V Singh. These contributions are gratefully acknowledged.

# Workshop participants

S.No	Name	Designation and Affiliations
1	Dr Jagdish Prasad	Director General Health Services, MoHFW, Gol, New Delhi
2	Dr Nata Menabde	WHO Representative to India, New Delhi
3	Dr Ashok Kumar	Deputy Director General -TB, CTD, DGHS, MoHFW, Gol, New Delhi
4	Dr R S Gupta	Deputy Director General, NACO, MoHFW,Gol, New Delhi
5	Dr Neeraj Kulshreshtha	ADDG-TB, Central TB Division, DGHS, MoHFW, Gol, New Delhi
6	Dr K.S. Sachdeva	ADDG-TB, Central TB Division, DGHS, MoHFW, Gol, New Delhi
7	Dr Devesh Gupta	ADDG-TB, Central TB Division, DGHS, MoHFW, Gol, New Delhi
8	Dr S Sahu	Team Leader, Stop TB Partnership Secretariat, WHO, Geneva
9	Dr Rohit Sarin	Director, National Institute of Tuberculosis and Respiratory Disease, New Delhi
10	Dr Prahlad Kumar	Director, National Tuberculosis Institute, Bangalore
11	Dr Soumya Swaminathan	Director, National Institute for Research in Tuberculosis, Chennai
12	Dr E Reddy	Assistant Drug Controller, DCGI, New Delhi
13	Dr Ira Ray	Former Additional Director General, Dte. GHS, MoHFW, Gol, New Delhi
14	Dr Rajendra Prasad	Director, Patel Chest Institute, New Delhi
15	Dr S K Sharma	Professor & Head, Department of Medicine, AIIMS,New Delhi
16	Dr Digambar Behera	Professor, Department of Pulmonary Medicine, PGIMER, Chandigarh

17	Dr Rupak Singla	HOD TB & Pulmonary Med. Department, National Institute of Tuberculosis and Respiratory Disease, New Delhi
18	Dr Sreenivas A Nair	NPO-TB, WHO Country Office For India, New Delhi
19	Dr Ranjani Ramachandran	NPO-Laboratories, WHO Country Office India, New Delhi
20	Dr Malik Parmar	NPO-DR-TB, WHO Country Office India, New Delhi
21	Mr E Thanaraj	NPO-TB Drugs, WHO Country Office India, New Delhi
22	Dr J N Bandvalikar	Vice-Chairman, TB Association of India, New Delhi
23	Dr AB Taly	Professor of Neurology NIMHANS, Bangalore
24	Dr A C Phukan	Chair of Zonal Task Force for Medical Colleges, North East, Shillong
25	Dr A Muruganathan	President, Association of Physicians of India, New Delhi
26	Dr A S Puri	Professor, Gastroenterology, G B Pant Hospital, New Delhi
27	Dr Ajay Gambhir	President, IAP, New Delhi
28	Dr Alladi Mohan	Professor & Head, Medicine, SVIMS, Tirupati, Andhra Pradesh
29	Dr Ameeta Joshi	Professor, Microbiology Department. Sir JJ Hospital, Mumbai
30	Dr AmitaAthavale	Professor & Head, Department of Chest Medicine, KEM Hospital, Mumbai
31	Dr Anil S	Director, STDC Bangalore, Karnataka
32	Dr Anil. J. Purty	Professor, Department of Community Medicine, Pondicherry Institute of Medical Sciences, Pondicherry
33	Dr Anita Arora	Principal Consultant, Microbiology Department. Fortis, New Delhi
34	Dr Anna Stratis	Medical Officer, World Health Partners
35	Mr A Senkathir	CDSO, HQ, FDA, Bhawan, New Delhi

36	Ms Aditi Ananthanarayanan	CCM Member and Activist, TB & HIV, New Delhi
37	Mr Alok Chaturvedi	Senior GM Macleods Pharmaceutics
38	Dr Anjali Nayyar	Senior Vice President, Global Health Strategies
39	Mr Ashish Mungantiwar	Senior. Vice President, Medical Services & Head, Macleods Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Mumbai
40	Dr Ashok Rajput	Consultant & Head of Pulmonary Medicine, Research & ReferralHospital, (Dte. AFMS), New Delhi
41	Dr BB Rewari	NPO, NACO, New Delhi
42	Dr Bobby John	President, Global Health Advocates, New Delhi
43	Dr Brij Bhusan Agarwal	Surgeon, Ganga Ram Hospital, New Delhi
44	Dr Balasangameshwara	Senior. Project Manager & Technical Officer Foundation For Innovative New Diagnostics
45	Dr C.S.Pandav	President, Indian Public Health Association, New Delhi
46	Dr C N Paramsivan	Project Head, FIND India, New Delhi
47	Dr Camilla Rodrigues	Consultant, Microbiology Department, Hinduja Hospital, Mumbai
48	Dr D R Rai	Hon. Secretary General, IMA, New Delhi
49	Dr Debajyoti Bhattacharyya	MD(Med)Pulmonary Medicine, Armed Forces Medical College, Pune
50	Dr GC Khilnanai	President, National College of Chest Physicians,New Delhi
51	Dr Giridhar Gyani	Secretary General Quality Council of India, New Delhi
52	Ms Geeta Bamzai	Faculty, Indian Institute of Mass Communication, New Delhi
53	Dr GR Sethi	Professor Department of Paediatrics, Maulana Azad Medical College, New Delhi
54	Dr GR Khatri	World Lung Foundation, New Delhi
55	Mr Harkesh Dabas	Programme Officer, Clinton Health Access Initiative, New Delhi

56	Dr J. Arivoli	Director, STDC Chennai, Tamil Nadu
57	Mr JagannathShinde	President, All India Association of Chemist and Druggist, Mumbai
58	Dr Karishma Saran	Programme Associate Global Health Strategies
59	Dr KC Sen	Director-Medical, CISF, New Delhi
60	Dr Lalit Nath	Senior Advisor, Voluntary Health Association of India, New Delhi
61	Ms Manjot Kaur	Programme Officer, Clinton Health Access Initiative,New Delhi
62	Dr Minni Khetarpal	Mumbai TB Officer, Mumbai
63	Dr M S Jawahar	Deputy Director (Sr. GM) NIRT, Chennai
64	Dr N. AppaRao	Chairman, National Leaders Forum, IMA, Hyderabad
65	Dr N.Meenakshi	Director, ITM, Chennai
66	Dr Nadeem Khan	Director, STDC Nagpur, Maharashtra
67	Ms Neera Agnimitra	Delhi School of Social Work, New Delhi
68	Dr Neerja Arora	National Coordinator, CBCI CARD, Delhi
69	MrNiteeshSrivastava	Senior General Manager, Macleods Pharmaceutics
70	Dr Nandakumar KV	DTO Mallapuram, Kerala
71	Dr Nandini Sharma	Director, Professor & Head, Department of Community Medicine, MAMC, New Delhi
72	Dr Narayan Mishra	Former President, CPAI, Prof & HOD Pulmonary Medicine, Orissa
73	Dr Oommen George	Technical Specialist (TB), Abt Associates
74	Dr Peter Small	Senior Programme Officer, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, India
75	Sister Prabha	Executive Director, CBCI CARD, New Delhi
76	Dr Pradeep Mishra	Secretary SEAR Pharm forum,
77	Dr Rajesh N Solanki	Professor & Head, TB & Chest Dept., BJMC, Ahmedabad
78	Ms Ramya Ananthakrishnan	Director, REACH, Chennai
79	Dr Ranjan K Das	Consultant Eminent Private Pulmonologist, CMRI,WestBengal

80	Dr Ravindra H R Reddy	Deputy Director, India TB Project, PATH, Hyderabad
81	Dr Ravindra K Dewan	Thoracic Surgeon, LRS Institute of TB & Respiratory Diseases, Delhi
82	Dr Rahul Thakur	FIND India
83	Dr Rajesh Chawala	Senior Consultant, Department of Respiratory Medicine, Apollo Hosp, Delhi
84	Dr Reuben Swamickan	Project Management specialist (TB), USAID, New Delhi
85	Dr RV Asokan	National Coordinator IMPACT ,IMA GFAM RNTCP PPM project, Kerala
86	Dr S. Subramanyam	Family Physician IMA Bangalore
87	Dr Sandeep Mishra	National Prog. Manager, VHAI
88	Dr Sanjay Kapur	Team leader, Health Office, USAID, New Delhi
89	Dr Satish Kaipilyawar	Deputy Director, India TB Project, PATH
90	Dr Shalabh Malik	Head, Microbiology Department, Dr Lal Path Labs, Delhi
91	Dr Somdutta Patra	Prof & Head, Dept. of Community Medicine, UCMS, Delhi
92	Dr Sonia Malik	Sr. Consultant & Director Infertility Specialist, Paras Hosp & South End Infertility Centre, Delhi
93	Dr Subhakar Kandi	Professor Pulmonary& Medicine OSMANIA HYD.
94	Dr Sudhir K Jain	Joint Director, Centre for Epidemiology, NCDC, Delhi
95	Mr Sumedh M Gaikwad	Director Medical Services, Themis Medicare Limited, Mumbai
96	Dr Sunita Mittal	Professor & Head Dep. of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi
97	Dr Suresh Gutta	National coordinator, IMA GFATM RNTCP PPM project, Hyderabad

98	Dr S N Rai	Consultant RNTCP, CTD Central TB Division,DGHS GOI Nirman Bhawan NewDelhi
99	Dr Sameer Kumta	Programme Officer Gates Foundation
100	Dr Shashi Khare	Consultant & Head Division of Microbiology, National Centre for Disease Control, Delhi
101	Dr Shibu Vijayan	Global Health Advocate India
102	Dr Sugata Mukhopadhyay	Technical Consultant World Vision India
103	Ms T. Mercy Annapoorni	Director, Blossom affected community representative, Rainbow TB Foundation, Virrudhanagar
104	Mr Tejaswi Sharma	General Manager, Global TB & API Business, Sandoz-Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Mumbai
105	Dr Urvashi B Singh	Chief, Tuberculosis Section, Dept. of Microbiology, AIIMS, Delhi
106	Dr Usha Baweja	Sr. Consultant, Medanta The Medicity Hospital, Gurgaon
107	Dr Usha Gupta	Executive Vice President, Delhi Society for Promotion of RUD, Delhi
108	Dr V K Arora	Vice Chancellor, Santosh Medical University, Ghaziabad
109	Dr Varinder Singh	Professor, Dept. of Paediatrics, LHMC, New Delhi
110	Dr Vijay Edwards	Director, Health & HIV, World Vision India
111	Dr Vinay K Dube	DTO Hoshangabad, Madhya Pradesh
112	Dr Vineet Chadha	Head Epidemiologist, NTI, Bangalore
113	Dr Y N Dholakia	Hon. Secretary, Maharashtra State Anti-TB Association, Mumbai
114	Dr Zile Singh	Professor and Head, Department of Community Medicine,Pondicherry Institute of Medical Sciences, Pondicherry
115	Dr V.P Myneedu	Microbiologist (SAG) & HOD, National Institute of Tuberculosis and Respiratory Diseases, New Delhi

116	Dr B.N. Sharath	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant - TB-HIV, Central TB Division, New Delhi
117	Dr Avinash Kanchar	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant and Program Officer HIV/TB NACO, New Delhi
118	Dr Kiran Rade	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant - Epidemiologist, Central TB Division, New Delhi
119	Dr Avi Bansal	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant - Public Health, Central TB Division, New Delhi
120	Dr Mayank Ghedia	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant - Laboratories, Central TB Division, New Delhi
121	Mr Arindam Moitra	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant - PPM, Central TB Division, New Delhi
122	Ms Smrity Kumar	WHO-RNTCP National Consultant - DPC, Central TB Division, New Delhi
123	Dr Mohan PS Kohli	PPM Consultant, Central TB Division, New Delhi
124	Dr Shibu Balakrishnan	WHO-RNTCP Medical Consultant, Kerala
125	Dr Rajeev Vishnoi	WHO-RNTCP Medical Consultant, Agra, UttarPradesh
126	Dr Shamim Manan	WHO-RNTCP Medical Consultant -RNTCP, New Delhi
127	Dr Shivani Chandra	WHO-RNTCP Medical Consultant -RNTCP, New Delhi
128	Dr Meeta Mahar	Technical Officer DR TB, Central TB Division, New Delhi
129	Dr ShikhaDhawan	Technical Officer, Laboratories, Central TB Division, New Delhi

### **Development process**

The first edition of the Standards for TB Care in India was conceived by a wider community of clinicians, public health specialists, community workers and patient advocates both within and outside of the Government of India as a necessary step in requiring and monitoring a widely accepted standard of TB care for the people of India. International guidelines and standards for TB care which existed such as International Standards for TB Care 2006 and 2009 editions, American Thoracic Society Standards, European Standards 2011, WHO Guideline for Treatment of TB 2010 and WHO Guidelines for PMDT 2011 were used as a foundation for developing India's standards. However with its unique challenges, approximately one third of the world's TB burden, and long history of dealing with a TB problem that appears to be resilient to the best efforts, it was felt that India should have its own standards that could be used as a benchmark by all providers managing TB patients within India. It is hoped that a set of standards recognized as appropriate for the specific challenges of India will spur observance to these standards by all care providers of India when managing a TB patient.

The standards developed and described here are the result of a long process that culminated in a three day national workshop organized by Central TB Division at New Delhi in December 2012 with technical assistance from WHO Country Office for India. The objective of the workshop was to develop the Standards for Tuberculosis Care in India that will be applicable to providers in public, private and other settings across India. About 120 experts from national and international level including various public health administrators, programme managers, representatives from various professional associations (Indian Medical Association, Association of Physicians of India, College of Physicians Association of India, Indian Association of Paediatricians, Federation of Obstetricians and gynecologists congress of India, Family Physician Association of India etc.), academicians and specialists from public and private sectors (pulmonologists, physicians, surgeons, paediatricians, gynaecologists, orthopaedic surgeons, microbiologists, public health specialist etc.), donors, technical and implementation partners, pharmaceutical companies, pharmacists

association, consultants, management experts, social science experts and civil society representatives participated at the workshop and actively worked to develop the evidence based Standards for Tuberculosis Care in India.

The methodology consisted of panel discussions and group work and the approach was to find appropriate answers to the following questions:

- What should be the standard tools and strategies for early and complete detection?
- What should be the standards of treatment in terms of drugs and regimens for best patient outcome?
- What should be the public health standards including regulations, strategies and systems for public health impact?
- What should be standards for patient support systems, both in public and private sectors and for community engagement for social inclusion?

As part of the development process, noted experts in the field of TB in India modified the international standards, following detailed review of India-specific and India-relevant evidence. As an output of the workshop, 26 standards developed and the India-relevant evidence debated, and listed for each of the standards in this document. This includes a new set of standards for social inclusion that goes beyond the areas covered in the International Standards for TB Care (ISTC) 2009. After the statement of each standard a brief summary of the international and national evidence are described along with the references to the literature. The standards thus evolved, are intended to be used to enhance quality and mutually acceptable engagement with the private and other sectors in India to enhance TB care. This is thus, an important tool for achieving the goal of universal access to quality TB care .

### Introduction

India, the world's second most populous country, accounts for a quarter of the world's annual incidence of TB. Every year around two million people develop TB in India and 300,000 die of TB. Over 15 million patients have been treated and three million additional lives have been saved by the Revised National TB Control Programme (RNTCP) over the last decade. Cure rates have consistently been above 85% and the TB Millennium Development Goals are reachable. However, despite a comprehensive national TB control program guiding states for implementation of TB diagnosis and treatment there is still a long way to go. The decline in TB incidence has been slow, mortality remains unacceptably high and the emergence of drug-resistant TB has become a major public health concern.

There are many challenges for TB control in India. Prompt, accurate diagnosis and effective treatment of TB are not only essential for good patient care, but they are also the key elements in the public health response to tuberculosis and the cornerstone of any initiative for tuberculosis control. The private sector holds a factual predominance of health care service delivery in India. There is very little information about the TB patient from the private sector available to the programme and little is known about their quality of treatment, including treatment outcomes. Engaging the private sector effectively is the single most important intervention required for India to achieve the overall goal of universal access to quality TB care.

The vision of India's national TB control programme is that the people suffering from TB receive the highest standards of care and support from healthcare providers of their choice. It is spelt out in the National Strategic Plan (2012-17) to extend the umbrella of quality TB care and control to include those provided by the private sector (i). The need for quality and standards for TB care is made particularly acute where a largely unregulated and unmonitored private sector accounts for almost half of the TB care delivered in India with gross challenges as far as quality of diagnosis and treatment is concerned. Thus, it was felt essential to develop and disseminate the standards of TB care that is particularly relevant in Indian context, acceptable to the medical fraternity in both the public and private sector in India.

Also, the availability of new diagnostic tools and strategies for early TB diagnosis, emerging evidences on existing regimens and newer regimens, and the need for better patient support strategies including addressing social inclusiveness necessitated the development of *Standards for TB Care in India*.

To paraphrase the ISTC, the standards in this document differ from existing guidelines in that the standards present what should be done whereas guidelines describe how the action is to be accomplished. There are comprehensive national guidelines from the Central TB Division, Gol [www.tbcindia.nic.in] that are regularly reviewed and updated. These standards represent the first what is expected from the Indian healthcare system. It is expected that the standards discussed in this document are clear and usable and will be accessible to all TB providers as an easy reference.

#### **Reference:**

1. National Strategic Plan (2012-17) for Tuberculosis – Directorate of Health Services, Central TB Division, Ministry of Health & Family Welfare (MoHFW), Government of India, New Delhi. www.tbcindia.nic.in

## **STCI summary**

#### Standard 1: Testing and screening for Pulmonary TB

- 1.1 Testing:
  - Any person with symptoms and signs suggestive of TB including cough >2 weeks, fever >2 weeks, significant weight loss, haemoptysis etc. and any abnormality in chest radiograph must be evaluated for TB.
  - Children with persistent fever and/or cough >2 weeks, loss of weight / no weight gain, and/or contact with pulmonary TB cases must be evaluated for TB.
- 1.2 Screening:
  - People living with HIV (PLHIV), malnourished, diabetics, cancer patients, patients on immunosuppressant or maintenance steroid therapy, should be regularly screened for signs and symptoms suggestive of TB.
  - Enhanced case finding should be undertaken in high risk populations such as health care workers, prisoners, slum dwellers, and certain occupational groups such as miners.

#### Standard 2: Diagnostic Technology

- 2.1 Microbiological confirmation on sputum:
  - All patients (adults, adolescents, and children who are capable of producing sputum) with presumptive pulmonary TB should undergo quality-assured sputum test for rapid diagnosis of TB (with at least
- two samples, including one early morning sample for sputum smeer for AFB) for microbiological confirmation.
- 2.2 Chest X-Ray as screening tool:
  - Where available, chest X-Ray should be used as a screening tool to increase the sensitivity of the diagnostic algorithm.

- 2.3 Serological tests:
  - Serological tests are banned and not recommended for diagnosing tuberculosis.
- 2.4 Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) & Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA)
  - TST and IGRA are not recommended for the diagnosis of active tuberculosis. Standardised TST may be used as a complimentary test in children.
- 2.5 CB-NAAT (cartridge-based nucleic-acid amplification test) is the preferred first diagnostic test in children and PLHIV.
- 2.6 Validation of newer diagnostic tests:
  - Effective mechanism should be developed to validate newer diagnostic tests.

#### Standard 3: Testing for Extra-Pulmonary TB

 For all patients (adults, adolescents and children) with presumptive extra-pulmonary TB, appropriate specimens from the presumed sites of involvement must be obtained for microscopy/culture and drug sensitivity testing (DST)/CB-NAAT/molecular test/histo-pathological examination.

## Standard 4: Diagnosis of HIV co-infection in TB patients & Drug Resistant TB (DR-TB)

- 4.1 Diagnosis of HIV in TB patients:
  - All diagnosed TB patients should be offered HIV counselling and testing.
- 4.2 Diagnosis of Multi-Drug Resistant TB (MDR-TB):
  - Prompt and appropriate evaluation should be undertaken for patients with presumptive MDR-TB or Rifampicin (R) resistance in TB patients who have failed treatment with first line drugs, paediatric non-responders, TB patients who are contacts of MDR-TB (or R resistance), TB patients who are found positive on any follow-up sputum smear examination during treatment with first line drugs, diagnosed TB patients with prior history of anti-TB treatment, TB patients with HIV co-infection and all presumptive TB cases among PLHIV. All such patients must be tested for drug resistance with available technology, a rapid molecular DST (as the first choice) or liquid / solid culture-DST (at least for R and if possible for Isoniazid (H); Ofloxacin (O) and Kanamycin (K), if R-resistant/MDR).
  - Where ever available DST should be considered for offer to all diagnosed tuberculosis patients prior to star of treatment.

- 4.3 Diagnosis of Extensively Drug Resistant TB (XDR-TB):
  - On detection of Rifampicin resistance alone or along with isoniazid resistance, patient must be offered sputum test for second line DST using RNTCP approved phenotypic or genotypic methods, wherever available.

#### Standard 5: Probable TB

- Presumptive TB patients without microbiological confirmation (smear microscopy, culture and molecular diagnosis), but with strong clinical and other evidence (e.g. X-Ray, Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology (FNAC, histopathology) may be diagnosed as "Probable TB" and should be treated.
- For patients with presumptive TB found to be negative on rapid molecular test, an attempt should be made to obtain culture on an appropriate specimen.

#### Standard 6: Paediatric TB

- 6.1 Diagnosis of paediatric TB patients:
  - In all children with presumptive intra-thoracic TB, microbiological confirmation should be sought through examination of respiratory specimens (e.g. sputum by expectoration, gastric aspirate, gastric lavage, induced sputum, broncho-alveolar lavage or other appropriate specimens) with an quality assured diagnostic test, preferably CB-NAAT, smear microscopy or culture.
- 6.2 Diagnosis of probable paediatric TB patients:
  - In the event of negative or unavailable microbiological results, a diagnosis of probable TB in children should be based on the presence of abnormalities consistent with TB on radiography, a history of exposure to pulmonary tuberculosis case, evidence of TB infection (positive TST) and clinical findings suggestive of TB.
- 6.3 Diagnosis of extra-pulmonary paediatric TB patients:
  - For children with presumptive extra-pulmonary TB, appropriate specimens from the presumed sites of involvement should be obtained for rapid molecular test, microscopy, culture and DST, and histo-pathological examination.

#### Standard 7: Treatment with first-line regimen

- 7.1 Treatment of New TB patients:
  - All new patients should receive an internationally accepted first-line treatment regimen for new patients. The initial phase should consist of two months of Isoniazid (H), Rifampicin (R), Pyrazinamide (Z), and Ethambutol (E). The continuation phase should consist of three drugs (Isoniazid, Rifampicin and Ethambutol) given for at least four months.
- 7.2 Extension of continuation phase:
  - The duration of continuation phase may be extended by three to six months in special situations like bone & joint TB, spinal TB with neurological involvement and neuro-tuberculosis.
- 7.3 Drug dosages:
  - The patients should be given dosages of the drugs depending upon body weight in weight bands
- 7.4 Bio-availability of drugs:
  - The bioavailability of the drug should be ensured for every batch, especially if fixed dose combinations. (FDCs) are used, by procuring and prescribing from a quality-assured source.
- 7.5 Dosage frequency:
  - All patients should be given daily regimen under direct observation. However, the country programme may consider daily or intermittent regimen for treatment of TB depending on the available resources and operational considerations as both are effective provided all doses are directly observed.
  - All paediatric and HIV infected TB patients should be given daily regimen under direct observation.
- 7.6 Drug formulations:
  - Fixed dose combinations (FDCs) of four drugs (Isoniazid, Rifampicin, Pyrazinamide, and Ethambutol), and three drugs (Isoniazid, Rifampicin and Ethambutol) and two drugs (Isoniazid and Rifampicin) are recommended.
- 7.7 Previously treated TB patients:
  - After MDR-TB (or R resistance) is ruled out by a quality assured test, TB patients returning after lost to follow up or relapse from their first treatment course or new TB patients failing with first treatment course may receive the retreatment regimen containing first-line drugs: 2HREZS/1HREZ/5HRE

#### Standard 8: Monitoring treatment response

- 8.1 Follow up sputum microscopy:
  - Response to therapy in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis, new as well as retreatment cases, should be monitored by follow-up sputum microscopy (one specimen) at the time of completion of the intensive phase of treatment and at the end of treatment.
- 8.2 Extension of intensive phase:
  - The extension of the intensive phase is not recommended.
- 8.3 Offer DST in follow up sputum positive cases:
  - If the sputum smear is positive in follow-up at any time during treatment, a rapid molecular DST (as the first choice) or culture-DST (at least for R and if possible for Isoniazid (H); Ofloxacin (O) and Kanamycin (K), if R-resistant/MDR) should be performed as laboratory facilities become available.
- 8.4 Response to treatment in extra-pulmonary TB:
  - In patients with extra-pulmonary tuberculosis, the treatment response is best assessed clinically. The help of radiological and other relevant investigations may also be taken.
- 8.5 Response to treatment in children:
  - In children, who are unable to produce sputum the response to treatment may be assessed clinically. The help of radiological and other relevant investigations may also be taken.
- 8.6 Long-term follow up:
  - After completion of treatment the patients should be followed up with clinical and/or sputum examination at the end of six months and 12 months.

#### Standard 9: Drug Resistant TB Management

- 9.1 Treatment of M/XDR-TB (or R resistant TB):
  - Patients with tuberculosis caused by drug-resistant organisms (especially M/XDRor only R resistance or with O or K resistance), microbiologically confirmed by quality assured test, should be treated with specialized regimens containing quality assured second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs.
- 9.2 Model of care for drug resistant TB:
  - Patients with MDR-TB should be treated using mainly ambulatory care rather than models of care based principally on hospitalization. If required, a short period of initial hospitalisation is recommended.

- 9.3 Regimen for MDR / R-Resistant TB cases:
  - The regimen chosen for MDR-TB may be standardized and/or based on microbiologically confirmed drug susceptibility patterns. At least four drugs (second line) to which the organisms are susceptible, or presumed susceptible, should be used. Most importantly the regimen should include at least a later-generation Fluoroquinolone (such as high dose Levofloxacin) and a parenteral agent (such as Kanamycin or Amikacin), and may include Pyrazinamide, Ethambutol, Ethionamide (or Prothionamide), and either Cycloserine or PAS (Paminosalicylic acid) if Cycloserine cannot be used.
- 9.4 Regimen for MDR patients with Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin resistance detected early:
  - Treatment regimen may be suitably modified in case of Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin resistance at the initiation of MDR-TB treatment or during early intensive phase, preferably not later than four to six weeks.
- 9.5 Surgery in MDR/XDR TB patients:
  - All patients of MDR/XDR-TB should be evaluated for surgery at the initiation of treatment and/or during follow up.
- 9.6 Treatment Duration in MDR TB patients:
  - Till newer effective drugs are available with proven efficacy with shorter duration of MDR-TB treatment; total treatment should be given for at least 24 months in patients newly diagnosed with MDR-
- TB (i.e. not previously treated for MDR-TB) with recommended intensive phase of treatment being six to nine months. The total duration may be modified according to the patient's response to therapy.
- 9.7 Specialist consultation in M/XDR TB patients:
  - Consultation with a specialist experienced in treatment of patients with MDR/XDR tuberculosis should be obtained, whenever possible.
- 9.8 Ensuring adherence in M/XDR TB patients:
  - Patient support systems, including direct observation of treatment, are required to ensure adherence. It should be ensured that the patient consumes all the dosages of the drugs.
- 9.9 Single sample follow-up culture in M/XDR TB patients:
  - The use of sputum culture (1 sample) is recommended for monitoring of patients with MDR-TB during treatment.

- 9.10 Second line DST during treatment of MDR TB:
  - During the course of MDR TB treatment, if the sputum culture is found to be positive at 6 months or later, the most recent culture isolate should be subjected to DST for second-line drugs (at least O and K) to decide on further course of action. DST to other drugs namely Moxifloxacin, Amikacin and Capreomycin may also be done if laboratory facilities are available to guide treatment.
- 9.11 Regimen for MDR patients with Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin resistance detected later:
  - The patients with MDR-TB found to be resistant to at least Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin during the later stage of MDR TB treatment must be treated with a suitable regimen for XDR TB using second line drugs including Group 5 drugs such as Amoxicillin Clavulanate, Clarithromycin, Clofazimine, Linezolid, Thioacetazone, Imipenum to which the organisms are known or presumed to be susceptible.
- 9.12 New drugs:
  - New drugs need to be considered for inclusion in regimens whenever scientific evidence for their efficacy and safety becomes available as per the national policy for newer antimicrobials. Appropriate regulatory mechanisms for distribution control need to be ensured.

### Standard 10: Addressing TB with HIV infection and other co-morbid conditions

- 10.1 Treatment of HIV infected TB patients:
  - TB patients living with HIV should receive the same duration of TB treatment with daily regimen as HIV negative TB patients.
- 10.2 Anti-retroviral & Co-trimoxazole prophylactic therapy in HIV infected TB patients:
  - Antiretroviral therapy must be offered to all patients with HIV and TB as well as drug-resistant TB requiring second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs, irrespective of CD4 cell-count, as early as possible (within the first eight weeks) following initiation of anti-tuberculosis treatment. Appropriate arrangements for access to antiretroviral drugs should be made for patients. However, initiation of treatment for tuberculosis should not be delayed. Patients with TB and HIV infection should also receive Co-trimoxazole as prophylaxis for other infections.

- 10.3 Isoniazid preventive therapy in HIV patients without active TB:
  - People living with HIV should be screened for TB using four symptom complex (current cough or, fever or weight loss or night sweats) at
- HIV care settings and those with any of these symptoms should be evaluated for ruling out active TB. All asymptomatic patients in whom active TB is ruled out, Isoniazid Preventive Therapy (IPT) should be offered to them for six months or longer.

#### Standard 11: Treatment adherence

- 11.1 Patient centered approach for adherence:
  - Both to assess and foster adherence, a patient-centered approach to administration of drug treatment, based on the patient's needs and mutual respect between the patient and the provider, should be developed for all patients.
- 11.2 Measures for treatment adherence:
  - Supervision and support should be individualized and should draw on the full range of recommended interventions and available support services, including patient counselling and education. A central element of the patient centred strategy is the use of measures to assess and promote adherence to the treatment regimen and to address poor adherence when it occurs. These measures should be tailored to the individual patient's circumstances based on details of the patient's clinical and social history and be mutually acceptable to the patient and the provider.
- 11.3 Trained treatment supporter for treatment adherence:
  - Such measures may include identification and training of a treatment supporter (for tuberculosis and, if appropriate, for HIV, Diabetes Mellitus etc.) who is acceptable, accessible and accountable to the patient and to the health system.
- 11.4 Use of Information Communication Technology (ICT) to promote treatment literacy and adherence:
  - Optimal use of ICT should be done to promote treatment literacy and adherence

#### Standard 12: Notification of TB cases

- All health establishments must report all TB cases and their treatment outcomes to public health authorities (District Nodal Officer for Notification).
- Proper feedback need to be ensured to all healthcare providers who refer cases to public health system on the outcome of the patients which they had referred.

#### Standard 13: Public health responsibility

- Any practitioner treating a patient for tuberculosis is assuming an important public health responsibility to prevent on-going transmission of the infection and the development of drug resistance.
- To fulfil this responsibility the practitioner must not only prescribe an appropriate regimen, but when necessary, also utilize local public health services / community health services, and other agencies including NGOs to assess the adherence of the patient and to address poor adherence when it occurs.

#### Standard 14: Maintain records for all TB patients

 A written record of all medications given, bacteriologic response, adverse reactions and clinical outcome should be maintained for all patients.

#### Standard 15: Contact investigation

- All providers of care for patients with tuberculosis should ensure all household contacts and other persons who are in close contact with TB patients are screened for TB
- In case of pediatric TB patients, reverse contact tracing for search of any active TB case in the household of the child must be undertaken.

#### Standard 16: Isoniazid prophylactic therapy

• Children <6 years of age who are close contacts of a TB patient, after excluding active TB, should be treated with isoniazid for a minimum period of 6 months and should be closely monitored for TB symptoms.

#### Standard 17: Airborne infection control

• Airborne infection control should be an integral part of all health care facility infection control strategy.

#### Standard 18: Quality Assurance (QA) systems

18a QA for diagnostic tests:

• All health care providers should ensure that all diagnostic tests used for diagnosis of TB are quality assured.

#### 18b QA for anti-TB drugs:

• Quality assurance system should ensure that all anti-TB drugs used in the country are subjected to stringent quality assurance mechanisms at all levels.

#### Standard 19: Panchayati Raj Institutions

• Panchayati Raj Institutions and elected representatives have an important role to share the public health responsibility for TB control with the healthcare providers, patients and the community.

#### Standard 20: Health education

- Every TB symptomatic should be properly counselled by the healthcare provider.
- TB patients and their family members should get proper counselling and health education at every contact with healthcare system

#### Standard 21: Deaths audit among TB patients

• Death among TB patients should be audited by a competent authority.

#### Standard 22: Information on TB prevention and care seeking

• All individuals especially women, children, elderly, differently abled, other vulnerable groups and those at increased risk should receive information related to TB prevention and care seeking.

#### Standard 23: Free and quality services

 All patients, especially those in vulnerable population groups, accessing a provider where TB services are available should be offered free or affordable quality assured diagnostic and treatment services which should be provided at locations and times so as to minimize workday or school disruptions and maximize access.

#### Standard 24: Respect, confidentiality and sensitivity

• All people seeking or receiving care for TB should be received with dignity and managed with promptness, confidentiality and gender sensitivity. Ensure that infection control procedures do not stigmatise TB patients.

#### Standard 25: Care and support through social welfare programmes

 Patient support system should endeavour to derive synergies between various social welfare support systems to mitigate out of pocket expenses such as transport and wage loss incurred by people affected by TB for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment.

#### Standard 26: Addressing counselling and other needs

• Persons affected by TB should be counselled at every opportunity, to address information gaps and to enable informed decision making. Counselling should address issues such as treatment adherence, adverse drug reactions, prognosis and physical, financial, psycho-social and nutritional needs.

### Standard 1 Testing and screening for Pulmonary TB

#### 1.1 Testing:

- Any person with symptoms and signs suggestive of TB including cough >2 weeks, fever >2 weeks, significant weight loss, haemoptysis etc. and any abnormality in chest radiograph must be evaluated for TB.
- Children with persistent fever and/or cough >2 weeks, loss of weight / no weight gain, and/ or h/o contact with pulmonary TB cases must be evaluated for TB.

1.2 Screening:

- People living with HIV (PLHIV), malnourished, diabetics, cancer patients, patients on immunosuppressant or maintenance steroid therapy, should be regularly screened for signs and symptoms suggestive of TB.
- Enhanced case finding should be undertaken in high risk populations such as healthcare workers, prisoners, slum dwellers, and certain occupational groups such as miners.

The most common symptom of pulmonary TB is prolonged cough that lasts longer than the cough with most other acute lung infections. However cough is a common symptom and most coughing patients do not have TB (1). Many countries have attempted to distinguish likely TB cases from other lung infections by specifying a chronic cough lasting two to three weeks (2,3). The evidence from India suggests that cough lasting > 2 weeks is a more sensitive indicator for TB than >3 weeks cough and is thus recommended here (4,5,7,8). A high level of clinical suspicion for TB is necessary as many TB patients will not have a cough, particularly if they are infected with HIV or are otherwise immunosuppressed. Children can present a diagnostic challenge and a high level of suspicion for TB must accompany the approach to any child with prolonged illness not otherwise explained, especially if there is a history of contact with a pulmonary TB case (5).

Enhanced case finding means maintaining a high index of suspicion for TB in all encounters, with proactive exclusion of TB using the appropriate combination of clinical queries, radiographic or microbiologic testing. For PLHIV, the WHO has developed a four-symptom screen that has proven highly sensitive for active TB (3,6). Recent evidence from surveys in southern India has pointed to the significant comorbidities of TB and type 2 diabetes (10, 11) and consequently diabetics are included in the high risk categories for regular screening (12). Any other immunosuppressed patients are also at considerably heightened risk and should be enquired about symptoms of TB at every healthcare encounter. In addition, slum dwellers are a large and recognized portion of Indian urban society where the transmission of infection is high. A recent estimate of the ARTI in Delhi was 2.3-3% (9), indicating that screening for active TB may be cost-effective and sensible. Occupational groups such as miners have been reported to have high risk of tuberculosis and they could be specially targeted for active case finding. An additional group with high risk for TB is certain indigenous populations in the tribal areas of India.

#### **References:**

- 1. International Standards for TB Care, Second Edition (2009) Tuberculosis Coalition for Technical Assistance, The Hague, 2009.
- 2. Treatment of Tuberculosis: guidelines 4th Ed. (2009) World Health Organization, Geneva
- 3. Systematic Screening for Active Tuberculosis: Principles and Recommendations (2013) World Health Organization, Geneva
- 4. Revised Guidelines for Diagnosis of Pulmonary TB (2009) Revised National TB Control Programme, Delhi
- 5. National Guidelines on Diagnosis and Treatment of Paediatric Tuberculosis (2012) Revised National TB Control Programme, Delhi
- 6. Cain, KP et al; An Algorithm for TB Screening and Diagnosis in People with HIV (2010) New England Journal of Medicine 362, 707
- 7. Santha T et al, Comparison of cough of 2 weeks and 3 weeks to improve detection of smear-positive tuberculosis cases among out-patients in India, IJTLD, 2005, 9(1), 61-68

- Thomas A et al., Increased yield of smear positive pulmonary TB case by screening patients with >2weeks cough compared to >3 weeks cough and adequacy of 2 sputum smear examinations for diagnosis, IJTLD 2008, 55: 77-83
- 9. Sarin R, Behera D et al, Annual Risk of Tuberculosis Infection (ARTI) in the slum population covered under RNTCP by LRS Institute, National OR Committee for RNTCP, meeting, 2012. (under publication)
- Viswanathan V. et al, Prevalence of Diabetes and Pre-Diabetes and Associated Risk Factors among Tuberculosis Patients in India, PLOS ONE.20127(7); e41367
- 11. Balakrishnan S. et al, High Diabetes Prevalence among Tuberculosis Cases in Kerala, India, PLOS ONE, 2012. 10 (7); e46502
- 12. Baker et al. The impact of diabetes on tuberculosis treatment outcomes-A systematic review: BMC Medicine 2011.9 (81);1741-7015

# Standard 2 Diagnostic technology

- 2.1 Microbiological confirmation on sputum:
  - All patients (adults, adolescents, and children who are capable of producing sputum) with presumptive pulmonary TB should undergo a quality-assured sputum test for rapid microbiological diagnosis of TB
- 2.2 Chest X-Ray as screening tool:
  - Where available, chest X-Ray should be used as a screening tool to increase the sensitivity of the diagnostic algorithm
- 2.3 Serological tests:
  - Serological tests are banned and not recommended for diagnosing tuberculosis.
- 2.4 Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) & Interferon Gamma Release Assay (IGRA):
  - TST and IGRA are not recommended for the diagnosis of active tuberculosis. Standardized TST may be used as a complimentary test in children.
- 2.5 Cartridge-Based Nucleic-acid Amplification Test (CB NAAT) is the preferred first diagnostic test in children and PLHIV
- 2.6 Validation of newer diagnostic tests:
  - Effective mechanism should be developed to validate newer diagnostic tests. One of the first responsibilities of the TB programme is to endeavour to make a bacteriological diagnosis of TB if at all possible. Currently, only sputum tests are sufficient and recommended under the programme for the microbiologic testing of

TB (1). The Government of India recently issued government orders banning the manufacture, importation, distribution and use of serological tests for diagnosing TB (2). In addition Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) and Interferon-Gamma Release Assays (IGRA) are not recommended for diagnosis of TB, although in certain cases TST may be useful as an additional test for the diagnosis of children(3). Chest radiograph is an unquestionably sensitive test for the detection of pulmonary disease in adults and children, and is recommended as a screening tool for TB. Due to the non-specific nature of radiographic testing for TB, any abnormal chest radiograph should prompt further bacteriologic and clinical assessment for TB (4).

As sputum tests are the key to TB diagnosis, attention to collection of a good sputum sample is paramount; a number of studies have looked at this, including studies in India. A consensus is that two samples are almost as good as three samples and a morning sample is better than a spot sample for detection of mycobacteria (5,6,7).

Acceptable methods for bacteriologic testing of sputum include sputum smear microscopy (both conventional and fluorescent), culture (on solid or liquid media), commercial line probe assay (LPA), or CB NAAT. The most commonly-used method for bacteriologic diagnosis of TB for the last 70 years, sputum smear microscopy, has had enormous value in TB diagnosis, but has limited sensitivity, particularly in children where microscopy is less than 50% sensitive. Sputum culture remains a highly sensitive, specific, and under-utilized method for TB diagnosis, but requires weeks to yield results and hence alone does not help clinicians for early diagnosis. Nucleic acid amplification testing (NAAT) offers enormous potential for accurate rapid diagnosis, but only commercial kits have been validated and are trustworthy for replicable results(8).

While both "in-house" manual NAAT is widely available, their lack of reproducibility and quality assurance concerns means that such in-house assays cannot be recommended(9). Commercial semi-automated NAAT have been developed in India, these are yet to be validated, hence are not recommended. With the advent of CB-NAAT the sensitivity and specificity of rapid TB diagnosis from sputum has increased to approximately levels seen in solid-media sputum culture, particularly valuable for the assessment of children.

A list of RNTCP approved diagnostics tests are given in the guidelines for TB notification accessible at www.tbcindia.nic.in.

#### References

- 1. Technical and Operational Guidelines for Tuberculosis. 2005. www.tbcindia.nic.in/pdf
- 2. TB India 2013. Pg 53. www.tbcindia.nic.in/annual reports/pdf
- 3. New Paediatric TB guidelines. www.tbcindia.nic.in/documents/pdf
- 4. Koppaka R, Bock N. How reliable is chest radiography? In: Frieden TR, ed. Toman's tuberculosis. Case detection, treatment and monitoring, 2nd Edition. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2004: 51-60.
- 5. Van Deun A, Salim AH, Cooreman E, et al. Optimal tuberculosis case detection by direct sputum smear microscopy: how much better is more? Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2002; 6(3): 222–30.
- Sarin R, Mukerjee S, Singla N, Sharma PP. Diagnosis of tuberculosis under RNTCP: examination of two or three sputum specimens. Indian J Tuberc 2001(48):13–16.
- 7. TB diagnostics and laboratory strengthening WHO policy. www.stoptb/wg/gli/resources
- 8. WHO policy statement: automated real-time nucleic acid amplification technology for rapid and simultaneous detection of tuberculosis and rifampicin resistance: Xpert MTB/RIF assay. WHO/HTM/TB/2011.4
- 9. Pai M. The accuracy and reliability of nucleic acid amplification tests in the diagnosis of tuberculosis. Natl Med J India 2004;17(5):233–6.

# Standard 3 Testing for extra-pulmonary TB

#### 3.1 Testing for extra-pulmonary TB

 For all patients (adults, adolescents and children) with presumptive extra-pulmonary TB, appropriate specimens from the presumed sites of involvement must be obtained for microscopy/culture/ CB-NAAT/molecular test/histopathology examination and drug sensitivity testing (DST).

Even as pulmonary TB presents significant diagnostic challenges, extrapulmonary TB diagnosis can be more challenging. Signs and symptoms are not specific and yields of mycobacteria are generally low from most tissue and fluid sources (1,2,3). Extra-pulmonary TB is comparatively common in PLHIV (approximately 30% of cases) and in these hosts the non-specificity of symptoms and low yield of mycobacteria present an even greater challenge. The basic principle of seeking bacteriologic diagnosis at every opportunity where TB is suspected applies to extra pulmonary TB as well. The use of unvalidated non-commercial 'in-house' NAAT on tissue specimens is not recommended; histopathology examination, smear microscopy, culture and validated commercial NAAT are the only acceptable options. Recently the use of CB-NAAT for specimens other than sputum was explored in many studies; although the test is not as sensitive on most of these samples compared with its sensitivity on sputum nevertheless it performs well and in all cases better than smear microscopy (4,5).

#### **References:**

- 1. Wares F et al.; Extrapulmonary Tuberculosis: Management and Control (2011) Revised National TB Control Program, Delhi
- 2. International Standards for TB Care, Second Edition (2009) Tuberculosis Coalition for Technical Assistance, The Hague, 2009
- 3. National Guidelines on Diagnosis and Treatment of Paediatric Tuberculosis (2012) Revised National TB Control Programme, Delhi. www.tbcindia.nic.in
- 4. Rapid Molecular Detection of Extra pulmonary Tuberculosis by the Automated GeneXpert MTB/RIF System. Journal Clin Micro. 2011; 4:1202–1205
- 5. Gerardo A-U, Azcona JM, Midde M, Naik P.K, Reddy S and Reddy Ret al. Hindawi Publishing Corporation Tuberculosis Research and Treatment, Volume 2012, Article ID 932862

## Standard 4 Diagnosis of HIV co-infection in TB patients and diagnosis of Drug Resistant TB (DR-TB)

- 4.1 Diagnosis of HIV in TB patients:
  - All diagnosed TB patients should be offered HIV counselling and testing.
- 4.2 Diagnosis of Multi-Drug Resistant TB (MDR-TB):
  - Prompt and appropriate evaluation should be undertaken for patients with presumptive MDR-TB or Rifampicin (R) resistance in TB patients who have failed treatment with first line drugs, paediatric non-responders, TB patients who are contacts of MDR-TB (or R resistance), TB patients who are found positive on any follow-up sputum smear examination during treatment with first line drugs, diagnosed TB patients with prior history of anti-TB treatment, TB patients with HIV co-infection and all presumptive TB cases among PLHIV. All such patients must be tested for drug resistance with available technology, a rapid molecular DST (as the first choice) or liquid / solid culture-DST (at least for R and H; and at least for Ofloxacin (O) and Kanamycin (K), if MDR).

Where ever available DST should be considered for offer to all diagnosed tuberculosis patients prior to star of treatment.

- 4.3 Diagnosis of Extensively Drug Resistant TB (XDR-TB):
  - On detection of Rifampicin and isoniazid resistance, patient must be offered sputum test for second line DST using quality assured phenotypic or genotypic methods, wherever available.

TB is a very clear clinical sign of possible HIV infection, and all TB patients deserve to have HIV ruled out through voluntary counselling and testing. India is considered a low HIV endemic area with high rates of TB, and the country-wide average HIV prevalence in TB patients is around 5%. In any given case of TB, at any age, HIV infection is possible. Early detection of HIV offers the opportunity for potentially life-saving additional interventions. Thus it is recommended that all patients with active TB be tested for HIV (1). If HIV infection is detected then, TB treatment and anti-retroviral therapy is as described in Standard 10.

Drug resistant TB is a growing problem worldwide including in India. Current surveillance data estimates a prevalence of MDR-TB of 2-3% in new, untreated TB patients and more than 15% in previously treated TB cases (2). The Programmatic Management of Drug Resistant TB (PMDT) has recently been expanded in order to treat DR-TB in the RNTCP and extend standards and monitoring of DR-TB treatment to the private sector. The laboratory support for this programme is in development and a growing network of accredited, quality-assured drug sensitivity testing labs will support the goal of universal DST for all TB patients. In order to provide timely information to the clinical team treating the patient and reduce primary transmission of DR-TB, rapid testing for rifampicin resistance is recommended (3).

The emergence of extensively-drug resistant TB (XDR-TB) underlines the importance of developing a laboratory infrastructure to support DST for second-line drugs. The most important tests are for resistance to the Fluoroquinolones (Ofloxacin) and the injectable agent (Kanamycin), which forms the backbone of MDR-TB treatment and resistance to these drugs defines XDR-TB. (4). It is recommended that, as facilities allow, all MDR-TB isolates are further tested for Ofloxacin and Kanamycin resistance.
- WHO policy on collaborative TB/HIV activities guidelines for national programmes and other stakeholders. Updated version of a document originally published in 2004 as Interim policy on collaborative TB/HIV activities (WHO/HTM/TB/2004.330; WHO/HTM/HIV/2004.1) WHO/HTM/TB/2012.1 and 012.1 WHO/HIV/2012
- Ramachandran R, Nalini S, Chandrasekar V, Dave PV, Sanghvi AS, Wares F, Paramasivan CN, Narayanan PR, Sahu S, Parmar M, Chadha S, Dewan P, Chauhan LS. Surveillance of drug-resistant tuberculosis in the state of Gujarat, India. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2009. 13(9):1154-60
- 3. Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, 2011 update. WHO/HTM/TB/2011.6
- 4. Gandhi NR, Nunn P, Dheda K, Schaaf HS, Zignol M, van Soolingen D, J e n s e n P, Bayona J. Multidrug-resistant and extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis: a threat to global control of tuberculosis. Lancet. 2010. 375(9728):1830-43

## Standard 5 Probable TB

#### 5.1 Probable TB

 Patients with symptoms suggestive of TB without microbiological confirmation (sputum smear microscopy, culture and molecular diagnosis), but with strong clinical and other evidence (e.g. X-Ray, Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology (FNAC), histopathology) may be diagnosed as "Probable TB". (1)

Despite the advent of new tests for TB diagnosis with greater sensitivity than smear microscopy of appropriate sputum samples, about 20-30% of TB patients will not have microbiologic confirmation. This figure may be much higher in children and patients with extra-pulmonary TB or PLHIV. Although it is recommended that any sample from a suspected TB patient that is initially negative by a rapid diagnostic test be cultured for TB growth and confirmed diagnosis, there will be a group of patients that have TB but without microbiologic confirmation. These are included in the Government of India TB case notification as "patients diagnosed clinically as a case of TB, without microbiologic confirmation, and initiated on anti-TB drugs" (2).

- 1. WHO Case Definitions 2011 Update. http://www.stoptb.org/wg/gli/assets/documents
- 2. TB Notification, GO No. Z-28015/2/2012-TB, dated 7th May 2012, Ministry of Health, Government of India

## Standard 6 Paediatric TB

- 6.1 Diagnosis of paediatric TB patients:
  - In all children with presumptive intra-thoracic TB, microbiological confirmation should be sought through examination of respiratory specimens (e.g. sputum by expectoration, gastric aspirate, gastric lavage, induced sputum, broncho-alveolar lavage or other appropriate specimens) with a quality assured diagnostic test, preferably CB-NAAT, smear microscopy or culture.
- 6.2 Diagnosis of probable paediatric TB patients:
  - In the event of negative or unavailable microbiological results, a diagnosis of probable TB in children should be based on the presence of abnormalities consistent with TB on radiography, a history of exposure to pulmonary TB case, evidence of TB infection (positive TST) and clinical findings suggestive of TB.
- 6.3 Diagnosis of extra-pulmonary paediatric TB patients:
  - For children with presumptive extra-pulmonary TB, appropriate specimens from the presumed sites of involvement should be obtained for rapid molecular test, microscopy, culture and DST, and histo-pathological examination.

Diagnosis of TB in children is particularly challenging as in small children it can be difficult to collect samples and the paucibacillary nature of TB in children reduces the sensitivity of testing. Regardless, there should be every effort to obtain bacteriologic diagnosis. Standardised TST may be used as a complimentary test in children, in combination with microbiological investigations, history of contact, radiology, and symptoms. The guidelines of the Indian Academy of Paediatrics (IAP) and paediatric TB guidelines of the RNTCP recommend obtaining specimens for mycobacteriology, the use of standardised TST with a cut-off of 10mm induration in non-immunosuppressed children, and specialist consultation. Serodiagnostic tests and IGRA have no role in paediatric TB diagnosis.

- Emily C. Pearce, A Systematic Review of Clinical Diagnostic Systems Used in the Diagnosis of Tuberculosis in Children, Hindawi Publishing Corporation AIDS Research and Treatment Volume 2012, Article ID 401896, 11 pages doi: 10.1155/2012/401896)
- 2. National Guidelines on diagnosis and treatment of Paediatric Tuberculosis, In consultation with Indian Academy Paediatrics during January- February 2012
- 3. New Paediatric TB guidelines. www.tbcindia.nic.in/documents/pdf

# Standard 7 Treatment with first-line regimen

- 7.1 Treatment of New TB patients:
  - All new patients should receive an internationally accepted first-line treatment regimen for new patients. The initial phase should consist of two months of Isoniazid (H), Rifampicin (R), Pyrazinamide (Z), and Ethambutol (E). The continuation phase should consist of three drugs (Isoniazid, Rifampicin and Ethambutol) given for at least four months.
- 7.2 Extension of continuation phase:
  - The duration of continuation phase may be extended by three to six months in special situations like Bone & Joint TB, Spinal TB with neurological involvement and neuro-tuberculosis.
- 7.3 Drug dosages:
  - The patients should be given dosages of the drugs depending upon body weight in weight bands.
- 7.4 Bio-availability of drugs:
  - The bioavailability of the drug should be ensured for every batch, especially if fixed dose combinations (FDCs) are used, by procuring and prescribing from a quality-assured source.
- 7.5 Dosage frequency:
  - All patients should be given daily regimen under direct observation. However, the country programme may consider daily or intermittent regimen for treatment of TB depending on the available resources and operational considerations as both are effective provided all doses are directly observed.

- All paediatric TB patients and HIV associated TB patients should be given daily regimen under direct observation.
- 7.6 Drug formulations:
  - Fixed dose combinations (FDCs) of four drugs (Isoniazid, Rifampicin, Pyrazinamide, and Ethambutol), three drugs (Isoniazid, Rifampicin and Ethambutol) and two drugs (Isoniazid and Rifampicin) are recommended.
- 7.7 Previously treated TB patients:
  - After MDR-TB (or R resistance) is ruled out by a Quality Assured test, TB patients returning after lost to follow up, relapsing from their first treatment course or new TB patients failing with first treatment course may receive the retreatment regimen containing first-line drugs: 2HREZS/1HREZ/5HRE

Treatment of drug-susceptible pulmonary TB with RHZE for two months followed by four months of RH or RHE has been highly effective in clinical trials (1). More than 95% of patients are cured using this regimen (1, 2, 3). The results are so impressive and repeatable that the lower rates of cure in national TB programs highlight the operational challenges of delivering a daily regimen over an extended period of time (4,5). The concept of daily, directly observed therapy, incorporating a full six months of R has been adopted by the majority of countries worldwide as a major part of Stop TB Strategy (5). India implemented the Revised National TB Control Program (RNTCP) in 1996 as a national government run system that used a thrice weekly regimen administered by DOT (6). Cure rates in India have been comparable with countries using daily dosing, TB mortality has dropped significantly, and the prevalence of TB has declined slightly over the last two decades (6). Nevertheless, high relapse rate of 11-13% has been reported in patients treated by DOT in the RNTCP in India from several different locations over the last several years (21, 23, 24). In places where the background of H resistance is high and/or HIV co-infection is common and in patients with cavitary disease the daily regimen is preferred because the intermittent dosing schedules result in higher rates of treatment failure and relapse (7, 8, 9). In India, H resistance is 11% in untreated TB patients and 37% in previously treated cases and the prevalence of HIV co-infection is 5% (6). In countries where H resistance is prevalent a full six months course of Rifampicin is recommended with a third drug, Ethambutol, added to the four months continuation phase (2, 3, 18, 19). Recent data indicates that this is also safe in paediatric patients (20). The extension of the continuation phase for extra-pulmonary TB to 9 or 12 months is based on expert opinion rather than evidence.

The recommendation for "category 2" treatment for previously treated cases with the addition of streptomycin to the intensive phase is currently under review and it is safe to say that a drug sensitivity test, if available, is a better guide to retreating TB than a "category 2" regimen (13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 23). The addition of a single drug to a failing regimen violates one of the tenets of TB therapy so close follow up of patients on a retreatment regimen is especially important (14).

Fixed dose combinations (FDCs) are desirable as they simplify drug procurement and logistics, the delivery of DOT and may increase adherence (10). It is important that the provider prescribe only quality-assured pills of fixed drug combinations in RNTCP and WHO recommended dosing (2,3,10). Individual drug dosing should be reserved for patients with toxicities or contraindications to one or more components of the FDC (10). The RNTCP guidelines outline dosing based on weight bands. Suggested weight bands for adults are: 30-39kg, 40-54kg, 55-70kg and >70kg. Recommended weight bands for paediatric patients are: 6-8kg, 9-12kg, 13-16kg, 17-20Kg, 21-24kg and 25-30kg.

The expert group acknowledged that the intermittent regimen used under the programme over the past decade is equally effective under direct observation as compared to the daily regimen, and choosing daily regimen does not undermine the successes of the programme (11,12). However, based on the above evidences and in the interest of having uniformity of care across all healthcare sectors to achieve the future vision of the programme for universal access to quality TB care and prevention of further drug resistance to TB; the choice for daily regimen was required. It was recommended that the programme to undertake an operational research to assess the feasibility of implementing daily therapy using FDCs under direct observation under programmatic settings.

- Menzies D, Benedetti A, Paydar A, Martin I, Royce S, et al. (2009) Effect of Duration and Intermittency of Rifampin on Tuberculosis Treatment Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS Med 2009. 6(9): e1000146. doi:10.1371
- 2. World Health Organisation. Treatment of Tuberculosis Guidelines. 4th edition. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2010.
- 3. International Standards for TB Care, Second Edition (2009) Tuberculosis Coalition for Technical Assistance, The Hague 2009.
- 4. World Health Organization, Global Tuberculosis Report 2012; Geneva 2012
- 5. World Health Organization, Stop TB Strategy, 2013; Geneva 2013
- 6. Revised National TB Control Programme, 2013; tbcindia.nic.in
- Kwok Chiu Chang et al.Dosing Schedules of 6-Month Regimens and Relapse for Pulmonary TB.Amer Journal of RespirCrit Care Medicine. 2006; 174: 1153-1158.
- Chang KC et al. Treatment of tuberculosis and optimal dosing schedules Downloaded from thorax.bmj.com on June 29, 2011 – Published by group.bmj.com
- ChangKCetal. A Nested Case-Control Study on Treatment related Risk Factors for Early Relapse of Tuberculosis. Amer Journal of RespirCrit Care Medicine. 2004; 170: 1124-1130.
- Monederol. et al. Evidence for promoting fixed-dose combination drugs in tuberculosis treatment and control: a review. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2011;15(4):433–439.
- 11. Alvarez TA et al. Prevalence of drug-resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis in patients under intermittent or daily treatment. J Bras Pneumol. 2009;35(6):555-560.
- 12. Wells AW et al. Implications of the current tuberculosis treatment landscape for future regimen change. IntJTubercLungDis. 2011; 15(6):746–753.
- Ramachandran R, S Nalini, V. Chandrasekar, P. V. Dave, A. S. Sanghvi, F. Wares, C. N. Paramasivan, P. R. Narayanan, Sahu S, Parmar M, Chadha S, Dewan P, L. S. Chauhan.Surveillance of drug-resistant tuberculosis in the state of Gujarat, India - Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 13(9):1154–1160.
- 14. Bhargava A, Pai M, et al. Mismanagement of tuberculosis in India: Causes, consequences, and the way forward Hypothesis 2011, 9(1): e7.
- 15. Mahmoudi A, Iseman MD. Pitfalls in the Care of Patients with Tuberculosis. JAMA 1993 July 7, 1993; 270:65
- Bhargava A, Jain Y. The Revised National Tuberculosis Control Programme in India: Time for Revision of Treatment regimens and rapid up-scaling of DOTS-Plus initiative. National Medical Journal of India 2008;21(4):187–91

- 17. Espinal MA. Time to abandon the standard retreatment regimen with first–line drugs for failures of standard treatment.Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2003;7:607–8.
- 18. Patricio E et al. Treatment of Isoniazid-Resistant Tuberculosis in Southeastern Texas – Chest 2001; 119; 1730-1736
- 19. Menzies D et al. Standardized Treatment of Active Tuberculosis in Patients with Previous Treatment and /or with Mono-resistance to Isoniazid: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis PLoS Med 6(9): e1000150.doi: 10.1371.
- 20. Donald PR, Maher D, Maritz JS, Qazi S. Ethambutol dosage for the treatment of children: literature review and recommendations 2006; 10;1318-1330.
- 21. GS Azhar DOTS for TB relapse in India: A Systematic Review. Lung India. 2012. 29(2).
- 22. Poncea M, et al. (2009) Additional evidence to support the phasing-out of treatment category II regimen for pulmonary tuberculosis in Peru Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 106 (2012) 508–510
- 23. Thomas A et al. Predictors of relapse among pulmonary tuberculosis patients treated in a DOTS programme in a DOTS programme in South India. International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases 2005;9(5):556-561
- Dave P, Rade K, Modi B, SolankiR, Patel P, Shah A, Vadera B. Assessment of Long-term Outcome among New Smear Positive Pulmonary TBPatients Treated with Intermittent Regimen under RNTCP – A Retrospective Cohort Study. Natl J Community Med 2013; 4(2):189-194.

# Standard 8 Monitoring treatment response

- 8.1 Follow-up sputum microscopy:
  - Response to therapy in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis, new as well as retreatment cases, should be monitored by follow-up sputum microscopy/culture (one specimen) at the time of completion of the intensive phase of treatment and at the end of treatment.
- 8.2 Extension of intensive phase:
- The extension of the intensive phase is not recommended.
- 8.3 Offer DST in follow up sputum positive cases:
  - If the sputum smear is positive in follow-up at any time during treatment, a rapid molecular DST (as the first choice) or culture-DST (at least for R and if possible for Isoniazid (H); Ofloxacin (O) and Kanamycin (K), if R-resistant/MDR) should be performed as laboratory facilities become available.
- 8.4 Response to treatment in extra-pulmonary TB:
  - In patients with extra-pulmonary tuberculosis, the treatment response is best assessed clinically. The help of radiological and other relevant investigations may also be taken.
- 8.5 Response to treatment in children:
  - In children, who are unable to produce sputum, the response to treatment may be assessed clinically. The help of radiological and other relevant investigations may also be taken.

### 8.6 Long-term follow up:

• After completion of treatment the patients should be followed up with clinical and/or sputum examination at the end of six and 12 months.

International standards recommend that a sputum sample should be collected at the end of the intensive phase (two months) and at the end of treatment (six months) to monitor the success of therapy (1,2). Recent evidence from India shows that collecting more than one sample added little to the detection of failure of treatment and therefore only one sample at two months is recommended for initial treatment monitoring (3,4,6). If the sample is positive for TB then it is recommended that a DST be done to guide further selection of therapy, either by a molecular probe for drug resistant loci or phenotypic DST in liquid culture. Consensus summarised by the WHO found little benefit for extending the intensive phase to three months if the two months smear was positive (2). It is, however, necessary to re-address adherence issues and/or other comorbid conditions that may have affected proper completion of the two months intensive phase (1).

Follow up of extra-pulmonary and smear negative TB is challenging and best done by regular clinical review. Chest X-ray has shown limited accuracy (5).

- 1. International Standards of TB Care (2009)
- 2. WHO Guidelines of Treatment of TB (2010) Geneva
- Kundu D, MV Kumar A, Satyanarayana S, Dewan PK, Achuthan Nair S, et al. (2012) Can Follow-Up Examination of Tuberculosis Patients Be Simplified? A Study in Chhattisgarh, India. PLoS ONE 7(12): e51038. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051038
- 4. Toshniwal M, MV Kumar A, Satyanarayana S, Dewan PK, Achuthan Nair S, et al. (2012) IUATLD Abstract Book UNION World Conference for Lung Health, November 2012 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
- Horne et al., Lancet Infectious Diseases 2010 Gandhi MP, Kumar AMV, Toshniwal MN, Reddy RHR, Oeltmann JE, et al. (2012) Sputum Smear Microscopy at Two Months into Continuation- Phase: Should It Be Done in All Patients with Sputum Smear-Positive Tuberculosis? PLoS ONE 7(6): e39296. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039296

# Standard 9 Drug Resistant TB management

### 9.1 Treatment of M/XDR-TB(or R resistant TB):

 Patients with TB caused by drug-resistant organisms (especially M/XDR or only R resistance or with O or K resistance), microbiologically confirmed by an accredited laboratory, should be treated with specialized regimens containing quality assured second-line antituberculosis drugs.

### 9.2 Model of care for drug resistant TB:

- Patients with DR-TB should be treated using mainly ambulatory care rather than models of care based principally on hospitalization. If required, a short period of initial hospitalisation is recommended.
- 9.3 Regimen for MDR TB (or R resistant cases):
  - The regimen chosen for MDR-TB may be standardized and/or based on microbiologically confirmed drug susceptibility patterns. At least four drugs (second line) to which the organisms are known or presumed to be susceptible, should be used. Most importantly the regimen should include at least Pyrazinamide, Ethambutol, a latergeneration Fluoroquinolone (such as high dose Levofloxacin) and a parenteral agent (such as Kanamycin or Amikacin), Ethionamide (or Prothionamide), and either Cycloserine or PAS (P-aminosalicylic acid), if Cycloserine cannot be used.
- 9.4 Regimen for MDR-TB patients with O and/or K resistance detected early:
  - Treatment regimen may be suitably modified in case of Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin resistance at the initiation of MDR-TB treatment or during early intensive phase, preferably not later than four to six weeks.

- 9.5 Surgery in M/XDR-TB patients:
  - All patients of M/XDR-TB should be evaluated for surgery at the initiation of treatment and/or during follow up.
- 9.6 Treatment duration in MDR-TB patients:
  - Till newer effective drugs are available with proven efficacy with shorter duration of MDR-TB treatment; total treatment should be given for at least 24 months in patients newly diagnosed with MDR-TB (i.e. not previously treated for MDR-TB) with recommended intensive phase of treatment being six to nine months. The total duration may be modified according to the patient's response to therapy.
- 9.7 Specialist consultation in M/XDR-TB patients:
  - Consultation with a specialist experienced in treatment of patients with M/XDR-TB should be obtained, whenever possible.
- 9.8 Ensuring adherence in M/XDR-TB patients:
  - Patient support systems, including direct observation of treatment, are required to ensure adherence. It should be ensured that the patient consumes all the dosages of the drugs.
- 9.9 Single sample follow up culture in M/XDR-TB patients:
  - The use of sputum culture (1 sample) is recommended for monitoring of patients with M/XDR-TB during treatment.
- 9.10 Second line DST during treatment of MDR-TB:
  - During the course of MDR-TB treatment, if the sputum culture is found to be positive at 6 months or later, the most recent culture isolate should be subjected to DST with second-line drugs (at least Ofloxacin and Kanamycin) to decide on further course of action. DST to other additional drugs may also be done if laboratory facilities are available to guide treatment.
- 9.11 Regimen for MDR-TB patients with Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin resistance detected later:

 The patients with MDR-TB found to be resistant to at least Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin during the later stage of MDR-TB treatment must be treated with a suitable regimen for XDR-TB using second line drugs including Group 5 drugs such as Amoxicillin-Clavulanate, Clarithromycin, Clofazimine, Linezolid, Thioacetazone, Imipenum to which the organisms are known or presumed to be susceptible.

#### 9.12 New drugs:

 The new drugs e.g. Bedaquiline, Delaminid may be considered whenever scientific evidence for their efficacy and safety becomes available as per the national policy for newer antimicrobials. Appropriate regulatory mechanisms for distribution control needs to be ensured.

The treatment of drug resistant TB is much more complex and challenging than the treatment of drug susceptible TB and requires drugs with greater toxicities for longer periods of time with relatively less encouraging outcomes. Unfortunately the evidence for drug regimen recommendations for drugresistant TB are based on observational studies and expert opinion and no large scale randomized controlled clinical trial data has been generated across the globe. Newer agents and newer regimens are becoming available and it is hoped the level of evidence for treatment choices increases in the next few years.

The new drugs e.g. Bedaquiline, however, may be considered whenever scientific evidence for their efficacy and safety is available as per the national policy for newer antimicrobials. Appropriate regulatory mechanisms for distribution control need to be ensured. This is of utmost importance to safeguard the new drugs from the risk of unregulated irrational use and emergence of resistance to these precious drugs.

Laboratory based microbiological confirmation of drug resistance is an important pre-requisite for deciding on an appropriate treatment regimen under consultation with a specialist experienced in management of M/XDR TB, wherever possible. Patients with tuberculosis caused by drug-resistant organisms (especially M/XDR or only Rifampicin resistance or with Ofloxacin or Kanamycin resistance), microbiologically confirmed by an accredited laboratory, should be treated with specialized regimens containing quality

assured second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs. For all practical purposes, Rifampicin resistance should be considered as a surrogate of MDR-TB and treated with the same regimen for MDR-TB. While all efforts should be made for microbiological confirmation, in exceptional circumstances (e.g. paediatric and extra-pulmonary cases) the MDR treatment may be considered in absence of the microbiological confirmation. Clear guiding principles need to be laid down by the national programme to define the eligibility of patients under such exceptional circumstances for treatment with second line anti-TB drugs in absence of microbiological confirmation.

The basic principles of drug-resistant TB treatment include using at least four second line drugs that the organism has demonstrated susceptibility to through DST or that guided by the current epidemiology of drug-resistance in the relevant population. In the treatment of patients with MDR-TB, four second-line anti-TB drugs likely to be effective (including a parenteral agent), as well as Pyrazinamide and Ethambutol should be included in the intensive phase (1, 2), the duration of that should be at least for six to nine months. Consider extending treatment at least 18 months beyond the last evidence of mycobacteria in a culture from the patient. Thus, the total duration of treatment should be at least 24 months up to a maximum of 27 months in patients newly diagnosed with MDR-TB (i.e. not previously treated for MDR-TB). The total duration of treatment may be modified according to the patient's response to therapy.

In the treatment of patients with MDR-TB, regimens should thus include at least Pyrazinamide, a Fluoroquinolone, a parenteral agent, Ethionamide (or Prothionamide), and either Cycloserine or PAS (P-aminosalicylic acid) if Cycloserine cannot be used. (1, 2). Treatment regimen may be suitably modified in case of Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin resistance detected early at the initiation of MDR-TB treatment or during early intensive phase, preferably not later than four to six weeks. However, for patients on MDR-TB regimen that are found to be resistant to at least Ofloxacin and/or Kanamycin during the later stage of MDR-TB treatment; they must be treated with a suitable regimen for XDR-TB using second line drugs including Group 5 drugs to which the organisms are known or presumed to be susceptible.

Ambulatory care is the preferred choice for management of DR-TB patients rather than models of care based principally on hospitalization as there are

convincing evidences that improving access to treatment for DR-TB through decentralization of care to centers near the patient's residence reduced the risk of default (2,3). However, if required, a short period of initial hospitalisation is recommended (2). Patient support systems, including direct observation of treatment, are required to ensure adherence. It should be ensured that the patient consumes all the dosages of the drugs as missed doses for more than a week increases the odds of further augmentation of drug resistance and adversely affects treatment outcomes. Monitoring of treatment should be done by collecting a single monthly sample of sputum for culture from month three to month seven and then guarterly until the end of therapy. It has been observed in an operational research conducted under the RNTCP that there is no meaningful advantage in using two specimens and a single specimen policy could be safely implemented with negligible clinical effect on MDR-TB patients and favourable resource implications for RNTCP(4). Prompt identification of early failures of MDR-TB regimen and timely actions for initiating second line DST in culture isolates of such patients is eluded in details in Standard 4. However, if the sputum culture is found to be positive at six months or later and the patient has no clinical or radiological deterioration, a repeat confirmation of DST status may be done.

Last but not the least, it must be emphasized that treatment of drug resistant TB can be complicated by drug toxicities, drug to drug interactions and emerging DST patterns and enlisting the help of an expert in DR-TB should be sought sooner rather than later through more than 100 established DR TB centers across the country.

- 1. Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis (2011 update), World Health Organization, WHO/HTM/TB/2011.6. www.who.int/publications
- 2. Guidelines on Programmatic Management of Drug Resistant TB (PMDT) in India, Revised National Tuberculosis Control Programme, Central TB Division, Directorate General of Health Services, Ministry of Health & Family Welfare, Nirman Bhavan, New Delhi, www.tbcindia.nic.in/documents
- M. T. Gler,\* L. J. Podewils,† N. Munez,\* M. Galipot,\* M. I. D. Quelapio,\* T.E. Tupasi\* et al. (2012) - Impact of patient and program factors on default during treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis-INT J TUBERC LUNG DIS 16(7):955–960 © 2012 The Union http://dx.doi.org/10.5588/ijtld.11.0502-7 May 2012

4. Nagaraja SB, Kumar AMV, Sachdeva KS, Ramachandran R, Satyanarayana S, Parmar M et al. (2012) Is One Sputum Specimen as Good as Two during Follow-Up Cultures for Monitoring Multi Drug Resistant Tuberculosis Patients in India? PLoS ONE 7(9): e45554. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045554

# Standard 10 Addressing TB with HIV infection and other co-morbid conditions

- 10.1 Treatment of HIV infected TB patients:
  - TB patients living with HIV infection should receive the same duration of TB treatment with daily regimen as HIV-negative TB patients.
- 10.2 Anti-retroviral therapy and co-trimoxazole prophylactic therapy in HIV infected TB patients:
  - Anti-retroviral therapy must be offered to all patients with HIV and TB as well as drug-resistant TB who require second-line anti-TB drugs, irrespective of CD4 cell-count, as early as possible (within the first eight weeks) following initiation of anti-TB treatment. Appropriate arrangements for access to anti-retroviral drugs should be made for patients. However, initiation of treatment for TB should not be delayed. Patients with TB and HIV infection should also receive Cotrimoxazole as prophylaxis for other infections.

10.3 Isoniazid preventive therapy in HIV patients without active TB:

 People living with HIV (PLHIV) should be screened for TB using four symptom complexes (current cough or fever or weight loss or night sweats) at HIV care settings and those with any of these symptoms should be evaluated for ruling out active TB. All asymptomatic patients in whom active TB is ruled out, Isoniazid Preventive Therapy (IPT) should be offered to them for six months or longer.

PLHIV are more susceptible to TB infection, more likely to develop active TB disease after infection and more likely to suffer from severe TB and disseminated, extra-pulmonary TB. In general, the treatment for TB in PLHIV is the same as treatment for patients without HIV and treatment outcomes are successful although the mortality rate of PLHIV is higher, more so with DR-TB

comorbidity than the HIV uninfected (1). With growing evidences it is globally recommended, that HIV infected TB patients should be treated with daily regimen (2,3,4,5). Intermittent regimen has been proven to lead to higher risk for relapse and development of acquired Rifampicin resistance if intermittent dosing of Rifampicin was started during the intensive phase of treatment in HIV-infected patients treated with Rifampicin-based regimens. (2,3,4,5)

Anti-retroviral therapy must be offered to all patients with HIV and TB as well as drug-resistant TB who require second-line anti-TB drugs, irrespective of CD4 cell-count, as early as possible (within the first eight weeks) following initiation of anti-TB treatment(2,3,5). A number of recent studies have investigated the optimal timing of TB and HIV treatment to reduce mortality and it seems clear that as soon as possible after initiating treatment for active TB in a PLHIV they should be started on antiretroviral therapy (2, 5). ART reduces the risk of TB relapse and acquired drug resistance to rifampicin in HIV infected TB patients (2,3,5). Further, in settings with high Fluoroquinolone resistance and extensive prior second-line treatment, encouraging results are being achieved in an ambulatory MDR-TB programme in a slum setting in India. Rapid scale up of both Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) and second-line treatment for MDR-TB are needed to ensure survival of co-infected patients and mitigate this growing epidemic (6). Considerations such as the ability to tolerate a large pill burden, drug interactions and toxicities all have to be balanced with the life-saving treatment of both TB and HIV simultaneously.

Appropriate arrangements for access to anti-retroviral drugs should be made for patients. However, initiation of treatment for TB should not be delayed. Patients with TB and HIV infection should also receive co-trimoxazole as prophylaxis for other infections (3). In PLHIV that do not appear acutely ill and do not have one or more of the WHO recommended four symptom screens for active TB are very unlikely to be suffering from active TB and may safely be given Isoniazid Preventative Therapy (IPT) for at least six months as part of a comprehensive package of HIV care(7). IPT should be given to such individuals irrespective of the degree of immunosuppression, and also to those on ART, those who have previously been treated for TB and pregnant women (7). Recent studies have demonstrated the profound protective effect of IPT although those that derive the most benefit are TST positive. In addition, evidence from India, along with other countries, points to a prolonged course of IPT being more protective than the standard six month course.

- S. Tripathy, A. Anand, V. Inamdar et. al Clinical response of newly diagnosed HIV seropositive &seronegative pulmonary tuberculosis patients with the RNTCP Short Course regimen in Pune, India - Indian J Med Res 133, May 2011, pp 521-528
- Faiz Ahmad Khan, Jessica Minion, Abdullah Al-Motairi, Andrea Benedetti, Anthony D. Harries, and Dick Menzies - An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-analysis on the Treatment of Active Tuberculosis in Patients With HIV Infection - 1154 CID 2012:55 (15 October) HIV/AIDS
- 3. WHO Guidelines for Treatment of Tuberculosis –2010 update
- Jiehui Li et.al. Relapse and Acquired Rifampicin Resistance in HIV-Infected Patients with Tuberculosis Treated with Rifampicin – or Rifabutin-Based Regimens in New York City, 1997-2000 – Clinical Infectious Diseases 2005; 41:83-91
- 5. PayamNahid et.al. Treatment outcomes of patients with HIV and Tuberculosis - American Journal of Respiratory Critical Care Medicine – Vol 175 pp 1199-1206, 2007
- Isaakidis P, Cox HS, Varghese B, Montaldo C, Da Silva E, et al. (2011) Ambulatory Multi-Drug Resistant Tuberculosis Treatment Outcomes in a Cohort of HIV-Infected Patients in a Slum Setting in Mumbai, India. PLoS ONE 6(12): e28066. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028066
- 7. DelphineSculier and HaileyesusGetahun.Scaling up TB screening and Isoniazid preventive therapy among children and adults living with HIV: new WHO guidelines.Africa Health, November 2011, page 18-23

## Standard 11 Treatment adherence

- 11.1 Patient-centered approach for adherence:
  - To assess and foster adherence, a patient-centered approach to administration of drug treatment, based on the patient's needs and mutual respect between the patient and the provider, should be developed for all patients.
- 11.2 Measures for treatment adherence:
  - Supervision and support should be individualized and should draw on the full range of recommended interventions and available support services, including patient counselling and education. A central element of the patient centered strategy is the use of measures to assess and promote adherence to the treatment regimen and to address poor adherence when it occurs. These measures should be tailored to the individual patient's circumstances based on details of the patient's clinical and social history and be mutually acceptable to the patient and the provider.
- 11.3 Trained treatment supporter for treatment adherence:
  - Such measures may include identification and training of a treatment supporter (for tuberculosis and, if appropriate, for HIV, Diabetes Mellitus etc.) who is acceptable, accessible and accountable to the patient and to the health system.
- 11.4 Use of ICT to promote treatment literacy and adherence:
  - Optimal use of ICT should be done to promote treatment literacy and adherence

Treatment adherence is a critical determinant of treatment outcomes, prognosis and further emergence of DR-TB in patients experiencing irregular and incomplete treatment. The DOTS Strategy has been the backbone of most country's TB programmes for the last decade. In certain places, strict

healthcare worker DOTS has been cost-effective and sustainable and resulted in control of limited TB epidemics. However, accumulating evidence has pointed to the effectiveness of a wide variety of approaches including community and family-centered DOTS, which is more achievable for most developing healthcare systems and produce comparable outcomes to healthcare worker supervised DOTS(1).

However, treatment adherence goes beyond the realm of DOTS to a larger concept of treatment support system developed with mutual trust and respect between the patient, family, providers, treatment supporters and the health system at large to promptly identify and address all possible factors that could lead to treatment interruptions. This includes not only medical factors such as promptly addressing co-morbidities, adverse drug reactions and emergencies but also spans out to addressing various social, vocational, nutritional, economic, psychological stress experienced by the patient throughout the course of treatment. Periodic regular and effective supervision by the public health supervisors at various levels and close monitoring of the progress made by the patient on treatment by the treating provider are critical components to ensure high standards of care. Capacity building and engaging with local community based organizations, self-help groups and patient support groups could prove to be effective interventions to promote treatment adherence (2, 3).

India is enabled with highly functional ICT systems and a population that is technology-literate. Through the use of SMS reminders and call center linkages between patients, providers and pharmacists, it is hoped that adherence to treatment will reach the necessary levels to reduce the prevalence of TB throughout India.

- 1. International Standards of TB Care
- Volmink J, Garner P Directly observed therapy for treating tuberculosis (Review) - The Cochrane Library - 2009, Issue 1, http://www.thecochranelibrary.com
- 3. Munro SA, Lewin SA, Smith H, Engel ME, Fretheim A, et al. (2007) Patient adherence to Tuberculosis treatment: A systematic review of qualitative research. PLoS Med 4(7): e238. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.

### Standard 12 Public health responsibility

- 12.1 Any practitioner treating a patient for tuberculosis is assuming an important public health responsibility to prevent on-going transmission of the infection and the development of drug resistance.
- 12.2 To fulfil this responsibility, the practitioner must not only prescribe an appropriate regimen, but when necessary, also utilize local public health services / community health services, and other agencies including NGOs to assess the adherence of the patient and to address poor adherence when it occurs. (1)

India continues to have high TB incidence and the mortality due to TB is still unacceptably high. The challenges of TB control in India are magnified by the existence of parallel systems for TB diagnosis and treatment – the public and private. Each system takes care of approximately half the TB cases (2) and methods and standards vary greatly depending on whether public or private care is accessed and furthermore what type of private care is sought, from super-speciality tertiary institutions to non-qualified providers (3). In part publishing, these standards of care attempts to standardise care so that certain responsibilities of the provider, whether public or private, are clear. In addition Standard 13, the notification of TB cases from both public and private providers, is expected to improve surveillance and quality of the care delivered and a subsequent reduction in the burden of TB in India.

- 1. International Standards of TB Care
- Satyanarayana S, Nair SA, Chadha SS, Shivashankar R, Sharma G, et al. (2011) From Where Are Tuberculosis Patients Accessing Treatment in India? Results from a Cross-Sectional Community Based Survey of 30 Districts. PLoS ONE 6(9): e24160. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024160
- 3. AnuragBhargava et al., Mismanagement of Tuberculosis in India: Causes, Consequences, and the Wayforward. Hypothesis 2011, 9(1): e7.

### Standard 13 Notification of TB cases

- 13.1 All health establishments must report all TB cases and their treatment outcomes to public health authorities (District Nodal Officer for Notification).
- 13.2 Proper feedback need to be ensured to all healthcare providers who refer cases to public health system on the outcome of the patients which they had referred.

TB is a notifiable disease in India as per the government order dated 7 May, 2012 and requires that all healthcare providers that have diagnosed a case of TB through microbiological testing or clinically diagnosed and/or treated for TB must be reported to the District Nodal Officer for Notification(1). Notification is a basic public health activity common to diseases of public health importance. With notification, public health authorities can identify TB patients and offer necessary public health care, supervise and support for the quality of treatment, and monitor disease trends. Ensuring notification of all TB cases is the most important step for a comprehensive TB surveillance system, which is required for effective TB control in the country. Cases are defined as anyone who has a microbiological (smear or culture) or approved molecular test proven disease or anyone who has a clinical syndrome consistent with active TB and is started on TB treatment. The requirement for reporting applies equally to government-run facilities and to private facilities. In both settings, it is the primary TB care provider or laboratory diagnostician's responsibility to insure that the required notification is completed (2). RNTCP has an electronic TB notification system (NIKSHAY) wherein all providers can register and notify cases -http://nikshay.gov.in

- Notification of TB in India
  http://www.tbcindia.nic.in/pdfs/TB%20Notification%20Govt%20%20Or
  der%20dated%2007%2005%202012.pdf
- Guidance tool for TB notification http://tbcindia.nic.in/pdfs/Guidance%20tool%20for%20TB%20notificati on%20in%20India%20-%20FINAL.pdf

### Standard 14 Maintain records for all TB patients

14.1 A written record of all medications given, bacteriologic response, adverse reactions and clinical outcome should be maintained for all patients.

Patient-level recording of details of diagnosis, treatment and outcome are the foundations of any effective public health surveillance system. Use of appropriate technology such as Nikshay should improve the quality and accessibility to a primary provider initiated record that is linked at every level from a primary clinic to the State Department of Health. In turn, it is the duty of the programme to monitor outcomes, both at primary level and aggregated into larger units, on a regular basis and reports the information that allow timely actions to improve services as needed.

The Government of India through a gazette notification has made all anti-TB drugs under schedule H1. These drugs should not be dispensed without a valid prescription from a qualified practitioner. A copy of the prescription should be maintained and details of the patient to be recorded by the chemist and should be made available for verification by the responsible public health authorities.

### Standard 15 Contact investigation

- 15.1 All care providers to patients with TB should ensure all household contacts and other persons who are in close contact with TB patients are screened for TB as per defined Diagnostic Standards.
- 15.2 In case of paediatric TB patients, reverse contact tracing for search of any active TB case in the household of the child must be undertaken.

The highest priority contacts for active screening are:

- o Persons with symptoms suggestive of tuberculosis
- o Children aged <six years
- o Contacts with known or suspected immune-compromised patient,

particularly HIV infection

- o Contacts with Diabetes Mellitus
- o Contacts with other higher risks including pregnancy, smokers and alcoholics etc.
- Contacts of patients with DR-TB. In case of contact with a DR-TB index case, close clinical monitoring should be provided, as there is no evidence that treatment of latent infection with available drugs is presently effective

A contact investigation should focus on those in close contact with the index case, most importantly family members and other members of the household who may have prolonged exposure. Among this group of contacts past studies have found 4.5% to have TB (1, 2). A recent study in India found 8.7% of household contacts were diagnosed with TB (3). Particular attention should be paid to contacts with the highest susceptibility to TB infection and subsequent active disease, namely small children and immunosuppressed people.

- Recommendations for investigating contacts of persons with infectious tuberculosis in low and middle income countries. www.who.int/tb/publications/2012/en/index.html
- 2) Fox GJ, Barry SE, Britton WJ, Marks GB. Contact investigation of tuberculosis, a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Respiratory Journal, 2012
- Evaluation of TB case finding through systematic contact investigation, Chhattisgarh, India – Presented at the 43rd UNION World Lung Conference, Nov 2012, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

# Standard 16 Isoniazid Prophylactic therapy

16.1 Children <6 years of age who are close contacts of a TB patient, after excluding active TB, should be treated with isoniazid for a minimum period of six months and should be closely monitored for TB symptoms.

Because children are more susceptible to TB infection, more likely to develop active TB disease soon after infection, and more likely to develop severe forms of disseminated TB, it is widely recommended (The Union, WHO) that close contacts of index cases under the age of 6 who do not have active TB should receive IPT. Close contacts of index cases with proven or suspected DR-TB should be monitored closely for signs and symptoms of active TB as isoniazid may not be prophylactic in these cases.

### Standard 17 Airborne infection control

17.1 Patients with symptoms suggestive of TB without microbiological confirmation (sputum smear microscopy, culture and molecular diagnosis), but with strong clinical and other evidence (e.g. X-ray, Fine Needle Aspiration Cytology (FNAC), histopathology) may be diagnosed as "Probable TB". (1)

Despite the advent of new tests for TB diagnosis with greater sensitivity than smear microscopy of appropriate sputum samples, about 20-30% of TB patients will not have microbiologic confirmation. This figure may be much higher in children and patients with extra-pulmonary TB or PLHIV. Although it is recommended that any sample from a suspected TB patient that is initially negative by a rapid diagnostic test be cultured for TB growth and confirmed diagnosis, there will be a group of patients that have TB but without microbiologic confirmation. These are included in the Government of India TB case notification as "patients diagnosed clinically as a case of TB, without microbiologic confirmation, and initiated on anti-TB drugs" (2).

- 1. WHO Case Definitions 2011 Update. http://www.stoptb.org/wg/gli/assets/documents
- 2. TB Notification, GO No. Z-28015/2/2012-TB, dated 7th May 2012, Ministry of Health, Government of India

## Standard 18 Quality assurance systems

18a Quality Assurance for diagnostic tests:

- All healthcare providers should ensure that all diagnostic tests used for diagnosis of TB are quality assured.
- 18b Quality Assurance for anti-TB drugs:
  - Quality assurance system should ensure that all anti-TB drugs used in the country are subjected to stringent quality assurance mechanisms at all levels (from manufacturer to patients). Providers should ensure that all anti-TB drugs prescribed come from a Quality assured source.

India has banned the use of commercial serology tests for diagnosis of TB. However, any diagnostic test used for diagnosing TB should have a quality assurance system in place. India's national TB programme (RNTCP) have established a good external quality assurance system for TB diagnostics, and is available to both public and private laboratories.

The same principle applies to the use of drugs; the drugs should be from a quality assured source and should be under a standard Quality Assurance process.

# Standard 19 Panchayati Raj Institutions

19.1 Panchayati Raj Institutions (PRIs) and elected representatives have an important role to share the public health responsibility for TB control with the healthcare providers, patients and the community.

Health being an important responsibility of the PRIs in India, there are many opportunities for greater involvement of the PRIs for TB control. Because the diagnosis and treatment of TB is complicated and takes long, and mistreatment of TB and emergence of drug-resistant TB affects everybody in the community, the Panchayat should be involved in all aspects of TB control. PRIs can facilitate good communication between facilities, public or private, that diagnose and treat TB and the communities, which they serve thus greatly helping in mobilizing community support for TB control. PRIs can help TB patient to link to other social welfare schemes, can help in nutritional and rehabilitation support etc.

### Standard 20 Health education

- 20.1 Every TB symptomatic should be properly counselled by the healthcare providers
- 20.2 TB patients and their family members should get proper counselling and health education at every contact with healthcare system

Proper health education to the patient and family is very important for TB care. There should be systems for education and counselling as an integral part of TB treatment. Every visit of the patient to the healthcare provider and visit of the health worker to the patient's home should be utilised for health education.

# Standard 21 Deaths audit among TB patients

21.1 Every death among TB patients should be audited by a competent authority.

Investigation into the cause of death is an important standard which needs to be followed to study the conditions that led to the death in order to initiate actions to prevent development of such conditions to other TB patients. Every TB death should be notified to the concerned authority. Competent authority at the district level should do the death audit of every TB death and provide a report to the programme to take necessary steps for preventing avoidable deaths.

## Introduction to Standards for Social Inclusion for TB

The principles for introducing Standards for Social Inclusion in TB Care are:

- To ensure all individuals presenting to the healthcare facility are treated with dignity, irrespective of their health and socio-economic status.
- To ensure universal delivery of quality assured TB diagnostic and treatment services across public and private sector.
- To ensure visibility and accessibility of the TB service programme to all, irrespective of socio-economic status.
- To find and treat women, children and the elderly within hard to reach populations (Marginalized communities in rural and urban populations).
- To eliminate out of pocket expenditure including those incurred on covering travel costs and bridging the nutrition gap.
- To address loss of income when work day is lost due to TB.
- To ensure no one is left without a plan of action to address their presenting complaint if it is not because of TB.

The Patients Charter (accompanying the ISTC) is the key operational guideline in engaging with patients in all TB care settings.

# Standard 22 Information on TB prevention and care seeking

22.1 All individuals especially women, children, elderly, differently abled, other vulnerable groups and those at increased risk should receive information related to TB prevention and care seeking.

# Standard 23 Free and quality services

23.1 All patients, especially those in vulnerable population groups, should be offered free or affordable quality assured diagnostic and treatment services, which should be provided at locations and times so as to minimize workday or school disruptions and maximize access.

# Standard 24 Respect, confidentiality and sensitivity

24.1 All people seeking or receiving care for TB should be received with dignity and managed with promptness, confidentiality and gender sensitivity. Public health responsibilities including notification, contact tracing, chemoprophylaxis, fast tracking, outcome monitoring etc. should be sensitive to respect and confidentiality of patients.

## Standard 25 Care and support through social welfare programmes

25.1 Healthcare providers should endeavour to derive synergies between various social welfare support systems such as RSBY, nutritional support programmes, national rural employment guarantee scheme etc. to mitigate out of pocket expenses such as transport and wage loss incurred by people affected by TB.

### Standard 26 Addressing counseling and other needs

26.1 Persons affected by TB and their family members should be counselled at every opportunity, to address information gaps and to enable informed decision-making. Counselling should also address issues such as healthcare, physical, financial, psycho-social and nutritional needs.



COUNTRY OFFICE FOR India

532, A - Wing, Nirman Bhawan Maulana Azad Road, New Delhi 110 011 www.searo.who.int/india